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Item 1. Financial Statements.

Revenues:

Product sales

Services

Total revenues

Cost of revenues:

Cost of product sales

Cost of services

Depreciation, amortization, and accretion

Insurance recoveries

Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

Exploration and pre-development costs
General and administrative expense
Interest expense, net
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income, net
Income before taxes and discontinued operations
Provision for income taxes
Income before discontinued operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to TETRA stockholders
Basic net income per common share:

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to TETRA stockholders
Weighted average basic shares outstanding
Diluted net income per common share:

Income from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to TETRA stockholders

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding

PART |
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2024 2023
$ 73,337 65,535
77,635 80,674
150,972 146,209
45,406 42,395
65,708 61,671
8,756 8,670
— (2,850)
119,870 109,886
31,102 36,323
— 720
22,298 23,191
5,952 5,092
5,535 —
(3,978) (214)
1,295 7,534
380 1,489
915 6,045
— (12)
915 6,033
— 7
$ 915 6,040
$ 0.01 0.05
$ 0.01 0.05
130,453 128,940
$ 0.01 0.05
$ 0.01 0.05
132,123 129,975

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2024 2023
Net income $ 915 $ 6,033
Foreign currency translation adjustment from continuing operations, net of taxes of $ in 2024 and 2023 (1,634) 1,421
Unrealized gain on investment in CarbonFree 237 121
Comprehensive income (loss) (482) 7,575
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — 7
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to TETRA stockholders $ (482) $ 7,582

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands)

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 35,939 52,485
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $62 in 2024 and
$614 in 2023 132,429 111,798
Inventories 94,285 96,536
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 24,911 21,196
Total current assets 287,564 282,015
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land and building 23,800 23,173
Machinery and equipment 311,609 304,884
Automobiles and trucks 10,201 10,148
Chemical plants 66,491 67,114
Construction in progress 11,126 10,323
Total property, plant, and equipment 423,227 415,642
Less accumulated depreciation (309,858) (307,926)
Net property, plant, and equipment 113,369 107,716
Other assets:
Patents, trademarks and other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $2,427 in
2024 and $51,509 in 2023 28,073 29,132
Operating lease right-of-use assets 30,964 31,915
Investments 20,386 17,354
Other assets 10,969 10,829
Total other assets 90,392 89,230
Total assets $ 491,325 $ 478,961

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
(Unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable $ 47,491 52,290
Compensation and employee benefits 19,232 26,918
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 8,731 9,101
Accrued taxes 13,192 10,350
Accrued liabilities and other 29,280 27,303
Total current liabilities 117,926 125,962
Long-term debt, net 179,394 157,505
Operating lease liabilities 26,738 27,538
Asset retirement obligations 14,645 14,199
Deferred income taxes 2,176 2,279
Other liabilities 4,299 4,144
Total long-term liabilities 227,252 205,665
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Equity:
TETRA stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value 0.01 per share; 250,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023; 134,274,837 shares issued at March 31, 2024 and 133,217,848 shares issued
at December 31, 2023 1,343 1,332
Additional paid-in capital 488,440 489,156
Treasury stock, at cost; 3,138,675 shares held at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (19,957) (19,957)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (46,628) (45,231)
Retained deficit (275,794) (276,709)
Total TETRA stockholders’ equity 147,404 148,591
Noncontrolling interests (1,257) (1,257)
Total equity 146,147 147,334
Total liabilities and equity $ 491,325 478,961

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balance at December 31, 2023
Net income for first quarter 2024
Translation adjustment, net of taxes of $0
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive loss
Equity-based compensation

Other

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at December 31, 2022
Net income (loss) for first quarter 2023
Translation adjustment, net of taxes of $0
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
Equity-based compensation®

Other

Balance at March 31, 2023

TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(In Thousands)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
Common Additional Unrealized
Stock Paid-In Treasury Currency Gain (Loss) on Retained Noncontrolling Total
Par Value Capital Stock Translation Investment Deficit Interest Equity
$ 1,332 $ 489,156 $ (19,957) $ (45,886) $ 655 $ (276,709) $ (1,257) $ 147,334
— — — — — 915 — 915
— — — (1,634) — — — (1,634)
— — — — 237 — — 237
(482)
— 1,623 — — — — — 1,623
11 (2,339) — — — — — (2,328)
$ 1343 $ 488440 $ (19,957) $  (47,520) $ 892 $ (275,794) $ (1,257) $ 146,147
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
Common Additional Unrealized
Stock Paid-In Treasury Currency Gain (Loss) on Retained Noncontrolling Total
Par Value Capital Stock Translation Investment Deficit Interest Equity
$ 1318 $ 477,820 $ (19,957) $ (48,991) $ (72) $ (302,493) $ (1,228) $ 106,397
_ _ — — — 6,040 (7) 6,033
— — — 1,421 — — — 1,421
— — — — 121 — — 121
7,575
— 3,514 — — — — — 3,514
7 (1,341) — — — — 1 (1,333)
$ 1325 $ 479993 $ (19,957) $  (47,570) $ 49 $ (296,453) $ (1,234) $ 116,153

@ Equity-based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2023 includes $.3 million for a portion of short-term incentive compensation that was settled

through grants of restricted stock units rather than cash.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands, Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

Operating activities:
Net income $
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion
(Gain) loss on investments
Equity-based compensation expense
Recovery of credit losses
Amortization and expense of financing costs
Expense unamortized finance costs
Insurance recoveries associated with damaged equipment
Gain on sale of assets
Other non-cash credits
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Trade accounts payable and accrued expenses

Other

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment, net
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from insurance recoveries associated with damaged equipment

Other investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from credit agreements and long-term debt
Principal payments on credit agreements and long-term debt
Payments on financing lease obligations
Shares withheld for taxes on equity-based compensation

Debt issuance costs and other financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

March 31,
2024 2023

915 6,033
8,755 8,670
(2,795) 505
1,623 1,276
(115) (21)
380 884
5,535 —
= (2,850)
(29) (270)
(553) (100)
(19,605) 12,626
1,542 (11,313)
(3,918) 4,496
(5,577) (11,179)
26 128
(13,816) 8,985
(15,827) (12,784)
251 289
— 2,850
a72) (1,552)
(15,748) (11,197)
184,456 52,756
(163,215) (47,362)
(277) (258)
(2,339) —
(5,277) —
13,348 5,136
(330) 167
(16,546) 3,091
52,485 13,592
35,939 16,683

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION, BASIS OF PRESENTATION, AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

We are an energy services and solutions company with operations on six continents focused on developing environmentally conscious services
and solutions that help make people's lives better. In addition to providing products and services to the oil and gas industry and calcium chloride for
diverse applications, TETRA is expanding into the low-carbon energy market with chemistry expertise, key mineral acreage, and global infrastructure,
helping to meet the demand for sustainable energy in the twenty-first century. We were incorporated in Delaware in 1981. Our products and services are
delivered through two reporting segments — Completion Fluids & Products Division and Water & Flowback Services Division.

Our Completion Fluids & Products Division manufactures and markets clear brine fluids (“CBFs”), additives, and associated products and
services to the oil and gas industry for use in well drilling, completion, and workover operations in the United States and in certain countries in Latin
America, Europe, Asia, the Middle East, and Africa. The Division also markets liquid and dry calcium chloride products manufactured at its production
facilities or purchased from third-party suppliers to a variety of markets outside the energy industry. Calcium chloride is used in the oil and gas industry,
and also has broad industrial applications to the agricultural, road, food and beverage, and lithium production markets. Our Completion Fluids & Products
Division also markets TETRA PureFlow, an ultra-pure zinc bromide, as well as TETRA PureFlow Plus, an ultra-pure zinc bromide/zinc chloride blend, to
battery technology companies.

Our Water & Flowback Services Division provides onshore oil and gas operators with comprehensive water management services. The Division
also provides frac flowback, production well testing, and other associated services in many of the major oil and gas producing regions in the United
States, as well as in oil and gas basins in certain countries in Latin America, Europe, and the Middle East.

Unless the context requires otherwise, when we refer to “we,” “us,” and “our,” we are describing TETRA Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries
on a consolidated basis.

Presentation

Our unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly owned or controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The information furnished reflects all normal recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of
management, necessary to provide a fair statement of the results for the interim periods. Operating results for the period ended March 31, 2024 are not
necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X for
interim financial statements required to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and do not include all information and
footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for complete financial statements. These financial statements should
be read in conjunction with the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2024 (the “2023 Annual Report”).


https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0000844965/000084496524000020/tti-20231231.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0000844965/000084496524000020/tti-20231231.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0000844965/000084496524000020/tti-20231231.htm
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Significant Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023
included in our 2023 Annual Report. There have been no significant changes in our accounting policies or the application thereof during the first quarter
of 2024.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclose contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, and impairments during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be
material.

Mineral Resources Arrangement

We have rights to the brine underlying our approximately 40,000 gross acres of brine leases in the Smackover Formation in Southwest Arkansas,
including rights to the bromine and lithium contained in the brine. In June 2023, we entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with Saltwerx
LLC (“Saltwerx”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of ExxonMobil Corporation, relating to a newly formed Brine Unit and potential bromine and lithium
production from brine produced from the unit. We completed an initial preliminary economic assessment in early 2023 for a bromine extraction plant. On
January 8, 2024, we announced the completion of a technical resources report for our Brine Unit in Arkansas. During the three months ended March 31,
2024, we capitalized approximately $4.0 million of costs associated with the development of our properties in Arkansas. We recognized $ 0.7 million of
expense during the three months ended March 31, 2023 for exploration and pre-development costs representing expenditures incurred to evaluate
potential future development of our lithium and bromine properties in Arkansas.

Foreign Currency Translation

We have designated the Euro, the British pound, the Canadian dollar, the Brazilian real, and the Mexican peso as the functional currencies for
our operations in Finland and Sweden, the United Kingdom, Canada, Brazil, and certain of our operations in Mexico, respectively. The United States
dollar is the designated functional currency for all of our other non-U.S. operations. The cumulative translation effects of translating the applicable
accounts from the functional currencies into the United States dollar at current exchange rates are included as a separate component of equity. Foreign
currency exchange (gains) losses are included in other (income) expense, net and totaled $(0.2) million and $0.2 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements

We utilize fair value measurements to account for certain items and account balances within our consolidated financial statements. Fair value
measurements are utilized on a recurring basis in the determination of the carrying values of certain investments. See Note 7 - “Fair Value
Measurements” for further discussion. Fair value measurements are also utilized on a nonrecurring basis in certain circumstances, including the
impairment of long-lived assets (a Level 3 fair value measurement).


https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0000844965/000084496524000020/tti-20231231.htm
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Interest paid $ 5,406 $ 4,513
Income taxes paid $ 433 $ 1,358
March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in thousands)

Accrued capital expenditures $ 3,908 $ 5,171

New Accounting Pronouncements

Standards not yet adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures” (“ASU
2023-07"), which is intended to improve reportable segments disclosures in annual and interim financial statements, primarily through expanded
disclosures of significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.” The new standard
requires companies to disclose specific categories in the income tax rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items that meet
a quantitative threshold. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted.

The Company is currently evaluating the expected impact of these standards but does not expect them to have a significant impact on its
consolidated financial statements upon adoption as the standards expand disclosures only.

NOTE 2 - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Our contract asset balances, primarily associated with contractual invoicing milestones and/or customer documentation requirements, were
$25.4 million and $30.6 million as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Contract assets, along with billed trade accounts receivable,
are included in trade accounts receivable in our consolidated balance sheets.

Unearned income includes amounts in which the Company was contractually allowed to invoice prior to satisfying the associated performance
obligations. Unearned income balances were $5.8 million and $3.1 million as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and vary based on
the timing of invoicing and performance obligations being met. Unearned income is included in accrued liabilities and other in our consolidated balance
sheets. We recognized approximately $0.1 million and $0.7 million of revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023,
respectively, deferred in unearned income as of the beginning of the period. During the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023,
contract costs were not significant.
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We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers into Product Sales and Services within each segment, as noted in our two reportable
segments in Note 9 - “Industry Segments.” In addition, we disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers by geography based on the following

table below.

Completion Fluids & Products

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024

2023

(in thousands)

United States 41,437 32,824
International 35,845 36,218
77,282 69,042
Water & Flowback Services
United States 64,711 68,338
International 8,979 8,829
73,690 77,167
Total Revenue
United States 106,148 101,162
International 44,824 45,047
150,972 146,209

NOTE 3 - INVENTORIES

Components of inventories as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:

March 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

(in thousands)

Finished goods 81,138 $ 79,769
Raw materials 4,280 8,329
Parts and supplies 7,012 6,868
Work in progress 1,855 1,570

Total inventories 94,285 $ 96,536

Finished goods inventories include newly manufactured clear brine fluids as well as used brines that are repurchased from certain customers for

recycling.

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS

Our investments as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consist of the following:

March 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

(in thousands)

Investment in CSI Compressco 12,204 $ 8,538
Investment in CarbonFree 6,888 6,850
Investment in Standard Lithium 944 1,616
Other investments 350 350

Total Investments $ 20,386 $ 17,354

Following the January 2021 sale of the general partner of CSI Compressco LP (“CSI Compressco”), we owned approximately 3.7% of the
outstanding CSI Compressco common units (NASDAQ: CCLP) as of March 31, 2024. CSI Compressco was acquired by Kodiak Gas Services, Inc.
(NYSE: KGS) (“Kodiak”) on April 1, 2024. See Note 10 - “Subsequent Events” for further information.

10
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CarbonFree Chemicals Holdings LLC (“CarbonFree”) is a carbon capture company with patented technologies that capture CO 2 and mineralize
emissions to make commercial, carbon-negative chemicals. In December 2021, we invested $5.0 million in a convertible note issued by CarbonFree.
During the three month period ended March 31, 2024, the convertible note agreement was amended and, in connection with that amendment, note
holders agreed to defer their right to electively convert the convertible notes to common units of CarbonFree (“CarbonFree Units”) for two years. In
exchange for the amendment, we received CarbonFree Units representing less than 1% of the CarbonFree Units outstanding as of March 31, 2024. The
CarbonFree Units are not publicly traded and may not be offered, sold, transferred or pledged until such common units are registered pursuant to an
effective registration statement or pursuant to an exemption from registration. Our exposure to potential losses by CarbonFree is limited to our
investment, including capitalized and accrued interest associated with the CarbonFree convertible note and CarbonFree Units.

We are party to agreements whereby Standard Lithium Ltd. (NYSE: SLI) (“Standard Lithium”) has the rights to produce and extract lithium in a
portion of our Arkansas leases. The Company received stock of Standard Lithium under the terms of its arrangements.

See Note 7 - “Fair Value Measurements” for further information.

NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Consolidated long-term debt as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consists of the following:

Scheduled Maturity March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in thousands)

Term Credit Agreement® January 12, 2030 $ 179,394 $ 157,505

Total long-term debt $ 179,394 $ 157,505

@ Net of unamortized discount of $5.5 million and $2.2 million as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and net of unamortized deferred financing costs of $%.1

million and $3.3 million as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Term Credit Agreement

On January 12, 2024, the Company entered into a definitive agreement for a $ 265.0 million credit facility, consisting of a $ 190.0 million funded
term loan and a $75.0 million delayed-draw term loan (collectively the “Term Credit Agreement”) that refinanced the Company’s prior credit facility
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and provided capital to advance the Company’s Arkansas bromine processing project. Pricing on the Term Credit
Agreement is the secured overnight financing rate plus 5.75%. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the unutilized commitments with
respect to the delayed-draw term loan at the rate of 1.5% per annum. The interest rate per annum on borrowings under the Term Credit Agreement is
11.17% as of March 31, 2024 and the maturity date of the Term Credit Agreement is January 12, 2030. The Company used the net proceeds to repay in
full the balance of its prior credit facility, with approximately $15.2 million of additional cash, net of discounts and transaction expenses. As a result of
termination of the prior credit facility, a loss of $5.5 million was recognized during the three-month period ended March 31, 2024 primarily for unamortized
deferred financing costs.

The Term Credit Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability of the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries to take certain actions including, among other things and subject to certain significant exceptions, the incurrence of debt, the
granting of liens, engaging in mergers and other fundamental changes, the making of investments, entering into transactions with affiliates, the payment
of dividends and other restricted payments, the prepayment of other indebtedness and the sale of assets. The Term Credit Agreement also requires the
Company to maintain a Leverage Ratio (as defined in the new term loan credit agreement) of not more than 4.0 to 1.0 as of the end of each fiscal quarter
and Liquidity (as defined in the Term Credit Agreement) of not less than $50.0 million at all times.

All obligations under the Term Credit Agreement and the guarantees of those obligations are secured, subject to certain exceptions, by a security

interest on substantially all of the property of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, subject to the lien priorities set forth in the intercreditor
agreement with the agent under our ABL Credit Agreement.

11
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Our Term Credit Agreement requires us to offer to prepay a percentage of Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Term Credit Agreement) within
five business days of filing our Annual Report beginning with the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2024.

The Term Credit Agreement includes customary events of default including non-payment of principal, interest or fees, violation of covenants,
inaccuracy of representations or warranties, cross-default to other material indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, invalidity or impairment of

security interests or invalidity of loan documents, certain ERISA events, unsatisfied or unstayed judgments and change of control.

ABL Credit Agreement

As of March 31, 2024, our asset-based credit agreement (“ABL Credit Agreement”) provides for a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to
$80.0 million, with a $20.0 million accordion. The credit facility is subject to a borrowing base determined monthly by reference to the value of inventory
and accounts receivable, and includes a sublimit of $20.0 million for letters of credit, a swingline loan sublimit of $ 11.5 million, and a $15.0 million sub-
facility subject to a borrowing base consisting of certain trade receivables and inventory in the United Kingdom.

As of March 31, 2024, we had no balance outstanding and $0.5 million in letters of credit and guarantees under our ABL Credit Agreement.
Deferred financing costs of $0.5 million and $0.6 million as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, were classified as other long-term
assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as there was no outstanding balance on our ABL Credit Agreement. Subject to compliance with
the covenants, borrowing base, and other provisions of the ABL Credit Agreement that may limit borrowings, we had availability of $79.5 million under this
agreement.

Borrowings under the ABL Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of TETRA, either (i) the standard overnight
financing rate plus 0.10%, (ii) a base rate plus a margin based on a fixed charge coverage ratio, (iii) the Daily Simple Risk Free Rate plus 0.10%, or (iv)
with respect to borrowings denominated in Sterling, the Daily Simple Risk Free Rate for Sterling plus 0.0326%. The base rate is determined by reference
to the highest of (a) the prime rate of interest as announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate (as
defined in the ABL Credit Agreement) plus 0.5% per annum and (c) the standard overnight financing rate (adjusted to reflect any required bank reserves)
for a one-month period on such day plus 1.0% per annum. Borrowings outstanding have an applicable margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.25% per annum
for LIBOR-based loans and 0.75% to 1.25% per annum for base-rate loans, based upon the applicable fixed charge coverage ratio. As of March 31, 2024,
the interest rate per annum on borrowings under the ABL Credit Agreement is 8.75%. In addition to paying interest on the outstanding principal under the
ABL Credit Agreement, TETRA is required to pay a commitment fee in respect of the unutilized commitments at an applicable rate ranging from 0.375%
to 0.5% per annum, paid monthly in arrears based on utilization of the commitments under the ABL Credit Agreement. TETRA is also required to pay a
customary letter of credit fee equal to the applicable margin on loans and fronting fees.

All obligations under the ABL Credit Agreement and the guarantees of those obligations are secured, subject to certain exceptions, by a security
interest for the benefit of the ABL Lenders on substantially all of the personal property of TETRA and certain subsidiaries of TETRA, the equity interests
in certain domestic subsidiaries, and a maximum of 65% of the equity interests in certain foreign subsidiaries.

Swedish Credit Facility

In January 2022, the Company entered into a revolving credit facility for seasonal working capital needs of subsidiaries in Sweden (“Swedish
Credit Facility”). As of March 31, 2024, we had no balance outstanding and availability of approximately $ 4.7 million under the Swedish Credit Facility.
During each year, all outstanding loans under the Swedish Credit Facility must be repaid for at least 30 consecutive days. Borrowings bear interest at a
rate of 2.95% per annum. The Swedish Credit Facility expires on December 31, 2024 and the Company intends to renew it annually.
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Finland Credit Agreement

In January 2022, the Company also entered into an agreement guaranteed by certain accounts receivable and inventory in Finland (“Finland
Credit Agreement”). As of March 31, 2024, there were $1.5 million of letters of credit outstanding against the Finland Credit Agreement. The Finland
Credit Agreement expires on January 31, 2025 and the Company intends to renew it annually.

Covenants

Our credit agreements contain certain affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability to pay dividends or other
restricted payments. As of March 31, 2024, we are in compliance with all covenants under the credit agreements.

NOTE 6 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

We are named defendants in several lawsuits and respondents in certain governmental proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
There have been no material developments in our legal proceedings during the quarter ended March 31, 2024. For additional discussion of our legal
proceedings, please see our 2023 Annual Report. Also see Note 10 - “Subsequent Events” for information related to a putative class action complaint
that was filed on April 25, 2024.

While the outcome of lawsuits or other proceedings against us cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not consider it reasonably
possible that a loss resulting from such lawsuits or other proceedings in excess of any amounts accrued has been incurred that is expected to have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

Product Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of our Completion Fluids & Products Division operations, we enter into supply agreements with certain manufacturers of
various raw materials and finished products. Some of these agreements have terms and conditions that specify a minimum or maximum level of
purchases over the term of the agreement. Other agreements require us to purchase the entire output of the raw material or finished product produced by
the manufacturer. Our purchase obligations under these agreements apply only with regard to raw materials and finished products that meet
specifications set forth in the agreements. We recognize a liability for the purchase of such products at the time we receive them. As of March 31, 2024,
the aggregate amount of the fixed and determinable portion of the purchase obligation pursuant to our Completion Fluids & Products Division’s supply
agreements was approximately $69.0 million, including $20.9 million for the remainder of 2024, $22.5 million in 2025, $16.0 million in 2026, $7.4 million in
2027 and $2.2 million in 2028.

NOTE 7 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Financial Instruments

Investments

We retained an interest in CSI Compressco representing approximately 3.7% of CSI Compressco’s outstanding common units as of March 31,
2024. CSI Compressco was acquired by Kodiak on April 1, 2024. See Note 10 - “Subsequent Event” for further information. In December 2021, we
invested in a $5.0 million convertible note issued by CarbonFree. In addition, we receive stock of Standard Lithium under the terms of our arrangements
as noted in Note 4 - “Investments.”

Our investments in CSI Compressco and Standard Lithium are recorded in investments on our consolidated balance sheets based on the
quoted market stock price (Level 1 fair value measurements). The stock component of consideration received from Standard Lithium was initially
recorded as unearned income based on the quoted market price at the time the stock is received, then recognized in income over the contract term.
Changes in the value of stock are recorded in other (income) expense, net in our consolidated statements of operations.
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Our investment in convertible notes and common units issued by CarbonFree is recorded in our consolidated financial statements based on an
internal valuation with assistance from a third-party valuation specialist (Level 3 fair value measurement). The valuation is impacted by key assumptions,
including the assumed probability and timing of potential debt or equity offerings. The convertible note includes an option to convert the note into equity
interests issued by CarbonFree. The change in the fair value of the embedded option is included in other (income) expense, net in our consolidated
statements of operations. The change in the fair value of the convertible note, excluding the embedded option, and common units are included in other
comprehensive income (loss) in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The change in our investments for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical  Significant Unobservable
Assets or Liabilities Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 3) Total

(in thousands)

Investment balance at beginning of period $ 10,154 $ 7,200 $ 17,354
Unrealized gain on equity securities 2,994 — 2,994
Unrealized loss on embedded option — (199) (199)
Unrealized gain on convertible note, excluding embedded option — 237 237
Investment balance at end of period $ 13,148 $ 7,238 $ 20,386

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical  Significant Unobservable
Assets or Liabilities Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 3) Total

(in thousands)

Investment balance at beginning of period $ 8,147 $ 6,139 $ 14,286
Unrealized loss on equity securities (184) — (184)
Unrealized loss on embedded option — (321) (321)
Unrealized gain on convertible note, excluding embedded option — 121 121
Investment balance at end of period $ 7,963 $ 5939 $ 13,902

Recurring fair value measurements by valuation hierarchy as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical Significant Other Significant Unobservable
Total as of Assets or Liabilities Observable Inputs Inputs
Description March 31, 2024 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)

Investment in CSI Compressco $ 12,204 $ 12,204 $ — $ =

Investment in CarbonFree 6,888 — — 6,888

Investment in Standard Lithium 944 944 — —

Other investments 350 — — 350
Total investments $ 20,386
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Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical Significant Other Significant Unobservable
Total as of Assets or Liabilities Observable Inputs Inputs
Description December 31, 2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)

Investment in CSI Compressco $ 8,538 $ 8,538 $ — % —
Investment in CarbonFree 6,850 — — 6,850
Investment in Standard Lithium 1,616 1,616 — —
Other investments 350 — — 350
Investments $ 17,354
Other

The fair values of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, short-term borrowings and long-term debt
approximate their carrying amounts. See Note 5 - “Long-Term Debt and Other Borrowings” for further discussion.

NOTE 8 — NET INCOME PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding with the number of shares used in the
computations of net income per common and common equivalent share:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Number of weighted average common shares outstanding 130,453 128,940
Assumed vesting of equity awards 1,670 1,035
Average diluted shares outstanding 132,123 129,975
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NOTE 9 - INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

We manage our operations through two segments: Completion Fluids & Products Division and Water & Flowback Services Division.

Summarized financial information concerning the business segments is as follows:

Revenues from external customers
Product sales
Completion Fluids & Products Division
Water & Flowback Services Division

Consolidated

Services
Completion Fluids & Products Division
Water & Flowback Services Division
Consolidated
Total revenues
Completion Fluids & Products Division
Water & Flowback Services Division

Consolidated

Income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations

Completion Fluids & Products Division
Water & Flowback Services Division

Corporate Overhead®

Consolidated

@ Amounts reflected include the following general corporate expenses:

General and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense

Loss on debt extinguishment

Other general corporate (income) expense, net

Total

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

72,753 $ 65,515
584 20
73337 $ 65,535
4529 $ 3,527
73,106 77,147
77,635 $ 80,674
77,282 $ 69,042
73,690 77,167
150,972 $ 146,209
19,792 $ 18,442
721 6,378
(19,218) (17,286)
1,295 $ 7,534

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

11,102 $ 11,059
81 109
6,145 5,460
5,535 —
(3,645) 658
19,218 $ 17,286

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and determined that there have been
no events that have occurred that would require adjustments to our disclosures in the consolidated financial statements except for the transaction and

event described below.

On April 1, 2024, Kodiak completed its acquisition of CSI Compressco. In exchange for our 5.2 million CSI Compressco common units, we

received approximately 450,000 shares of Kodiak common stock.
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On April 25, 2024, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery naming as
defendants all current members of the Board, the Company and the Rights Agent. The litigation is captioned Webb, et al. v. Murphy, et al., C.A. No.
2024-0445 (Del. Ch.). The plaintiff alleges that the Board breached their fiduciary duties by adopting and maintaining the Company’s Tax Benefits
Preservation Plan (the “Tax Plan”). The plaintiff seeks, among other relief, to enjoin the Tax Plan. We believe that the plaintiff's claims lack merit.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in this Quarterly Report. In addition, the following discussion and analysis should
also be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) on February 27, 2024 (2023 Annual Report”). This discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve certain risks and
uncertainties.

Business Overview

We are an energy services and solutions company with operations on six continents focused on developing environmentally conscious services
and solutions that help make people's lives better. In addition to providing products and services to the oil and gas industry and calcium chloride for
diverse applications, TETRA is expanding into the low-carbon energy market with chemistry expertise, key mineral acreage, and global infrastructure,
helping to meet the demand for sustainable energy in the twenty-first century. We are composed of two segments — Completion Fluids & Products
Division and Water & Flowback Services Division.

Consolidated revenue for the first three months of 2024 of $151.0 million reflects a 3.3% increase over the prior year, reflecting growth in
international markets and the Gulf of Mexico. Strong margins from our Completion Fluids & Products Division, driven largely by deepwater completion
projects, more than offset a weaker first quarter for our Water & Flowback Services Division.

Completion Fluids & Products Division revenues for the first three months of 2024 increased 11.9% compared to the first three months of 2023 as
pricing and market share have continued to improve. Completion Fluids & Products Division revenues increased 6.5% sequentially.

Our Water & Flowback Services revenues decreased 8.5% sequentially and decreased 4.5% compared to the first three months of 2023,
reflecting lower revenues following the sale of the first early production facility to our customer in Latin America in October 2023, as well as a slowdown
in North America onshore completion activity.

We are committed to pursuing low-carbon energy initiatives that leverage our fluids and aqueous chemistry core competencies, our significant
bromine and lithium assets and technologies, and our leading calcium chloride production capabilities. In June 2023, we entered into the MOU with
Saltwerx, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of ExxonMobil Corporation, relating to a newly formed Brine Unit and potential bromine and lithium
production from brine produced from the unit. The MOU with Saltwerx includes provisions relating to: (i) initial brine ownership percentages within the
Brine Unit, including the bromine and lithium contained in the brine, (ii) the transfer of certain leased acres outside the proposed Brine Unit from us to
Saltwerx, (iii) reimbursement by Saltwerx of certain expenses that we incurred for the development of leased acreage to be included in the Brine Unit,
and (iv) an allocation of certain future costs for the drilling of a brine production test well and other development operations, including front-end
engineering and design studies for bromine and lithium production facilities. The extraction of lithium and bromine from these brine leases would likely
require a significant amount of time and capital, which we are not able to estimate at this time. We completed an initial preliminary economic assessment
in early 2023 for a bromine extraction plant. On January 8, 2024, we announced the completion of a technical resources report (the “Resources Report”)
for our Brine Unit in Arkansas. We expect an initial economic assessment to follow in the first half of 2024 for a lithium extraction plant, subject to the
progress of early engineering. We have continued to advance the definitive feasibility study for the Arkansas bromine processing facility and negotiate a
lithium joint venture with ExxonMobil for the Brine Unit.
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Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the associated Notes contained
elsewhere in this report. The analysis herein reflects the optional approach to discuss results of operations on a sequential-quarter basis, which we
believe provides information that is most useful in assessing our quarterly results of operations.

Three months ended March 31, 2024 compared with three months ended December 31, 2023.

Consolidated Comparisons

Three Months Ended Period to Period Change
March 31, December 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues $ 150,972 $ 153,126 $ (2,154) (1.4) %
Gross profit 31,102 30,243 859 2.8 %
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 20.6 % 19.8 %
Exploration and pre-development costs — 5,283 (5,283) (100.0) %
General and administrative expense 22,298 23,336 (1,038) (4.4) %
General and administrative expense as a
percentage of revenue 14.8 % 15.2 %
Interest expense, net 5,952 5,677 275 4.8 %
Loss on debt extinguishment 5,535 — 5,535 100.0 %
Other income, net (3,978) (422) 3,556 842.7 %
Income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations 1,295 (3,631) 4,926 NM®

Income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage

of revenue 0.9 % 2.4)%
Provision for income taxes 380 608 (228) (37.5)%
Income (loss) before discontinued operations 915 (4,239) 5,154 (121.6) %

Discontinued operations:

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes — 346 346 100.0 %
Net income (loss) 915 (3,893) 4,808 (123.5) %
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — 2 ) 100.0 %
Net income (loss) attributable to TETRA stockholders $ 915  $ (3,891) s 4,806 (123.5) %

(@ Percent change is not meaningful

Consolidated revenues decreased between the current and previous quarters primarily due to a decrease in revenues from the Water &
Flowback Services Division partially offset by an increase in overall activity for the Completion Fluids & Products Division. See Divisional Comparisons
section below for a more detailed discussion of the change in our revenues.

Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased primarily due to our Completion Fluids & Products Division’s higher overall
activity levels and margins. See Divisional Comparisons section below for additional discussion.

Consolidated exploration and pre-development costs decreased $5.3 million due to the capitalization of costs beginning in January 2024
following project developments, including the milestone Resource Report, compared to expensing of costs associated with the front-end engineering and

design study and appraisal costs associated with the activity in the prior quarter.

Consolidated general and administrative expenses decreased compared to the prior quarter, primarily due to a $0.7 million decrease in
compensation expenses, and a $0.3 million decrease in legal expenses.

Consolidated loss on debt extinguishment increased $5.5 million primarily from non-cash unamortized finance costs expensed in connection with
the repayment of our prior Term Credit Agreement in January 2024.
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Consolidated other income, net, increased in the current quarter, compared to the prior quarter primarily due to an increase in unrealized gains
on investments, primarily due to the $2.4 million increase from the change in the unit price of the CSI Compressco common units we owned, and a $3.4
million decrease in foreign exchange losses primarily due to the impact of currency devaluation in Argentina during the prior quarter. These changes
were partially offset by a $2.6 million decrease in credits for exploration and pre-development costs reimbursable from Saltwerx as the credits are
included in the Arkansas project cost capitalization beginning in January 2024.

Consolidated provision for income tax was $0.4 million during the current quarter, compared to a $0.6 million provision during the prior quarter.
Our consolidated effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was 29.3% due to a significant portion of the income was in jurisdictions
for which we were not able to utilize net operating losses for which we had established valuation allowances. We establish a valuation allowance to
reduce the deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Included in our
deferred tax assets are net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits that are available to offset future income tax liabilities in the United States and
certain other non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Divisional Comparisons

Completion Fluids & Products Division

Three Months Ended Period to Period Change
March 31, December 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues $ 77,282 $ 72,556 $ 4,726 6.5 %
Gross profit 26,431 20,215 6,216 30.7 %

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 342 % 279 %
Exploration and pre-development costs — 5,283 (5,283) (100.0) %
General and administrative expense 6,693 6,450 243 3.8 %

General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue 8.7 % 8.9 %
Interest income, net (269) (47) (222) (472.3) %
Other (income) expense, net 215 (2,455) (2,670) NM®
Income before taxes and discontinued operations $ 19,792 $ 10,984 $ 8,808 80.2 %

Income before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage of
revenue 25.6 % 15.1 %

(@ Percent change is not meaningful

Revenues for our Completion Fluids & Products Division increased primarily due to increased volumes and favorable pricing for industrial
chemical sales in North America and Europe during the quarter.

Gross profit for our Completion Fluids & Products Division increased compared to the prior quarter primarily due to the increase in revenues
mentioned above as well as favorable pricing and raw material cost changes. Our profitability in future periods will continue to be affected by the mix of
our products and services, market demand for our products and services, and drilling and completions activity.

Completion Fluids & Products Division exploration and pre-development costs associated with our potential Southwest Arkansas bromine
development project decreased $5.3 million due to the capitalization of costs beginning in January 2024, compared to expensing of costs associated with
the front-end engineering and design study and well appraisal costs in the prior quarter. Other income, net decreased primarily due to the $2.6 million
decrease in credits for exploration and pre-development costs from Saltwerx following the shift to capitalize the project costs and reimbursement.
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Water & Flowback Services Division

Three Months Ended Period to Period Change
March 31, December 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues $ 73,690 $ 80,570 $ (6,880) (8.5) %

Gross profit 4,752 10,126 (5,374) (53.1) %
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 6.4 % 12.6 %

General and administrative expense 4,503 4,956 (453) 9.1) %
General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue 6.1 % 6.2 %

Interest (income) expense, net 76 (38) 114 (300.0) %

Other (income) expense, net (548) 2,353 2,901 NM®

Income before taxes and discontinued operations $ 721 $ 2855 g (2,134) (74.7) %

Income before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage of
revenue 1.0% 3.5%

@ Percent change is not meaningful

Revenues for our Water & Flowback Services Division decreased in the current quarter compared to the prior quarter, primarily due to the lower
overall customer activity in the North America onshore business, which was impacted by the timing of customer completion schedules. In addition, prior
quarter revenues included the sale of our first early production facility in Latin America.

Gross profit for our Water & Flowback Services Division decreased compared to the previous quarter due to lower revenue and increased
operating costs in water management, particularly in the North America onshore business. We also experienced some one-off costs as activity levels
rebounded. We also maintained staff and equipment levels during the temporary slowdown through the first quarter in order to be prepared to respond to
opportunities from the second quarter onwards.

The Water & Flowback Services Division income before taxes and discontinued operations decreased primarily due to a decline in gross profits
described above partially offset by a $2.8 million decrease in foreign exchange losses from devaluation of the Argentinian Peso during the prior quarter.

Corporate Overhead

Three Months Ended Period to Period Change
March 31, December 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Depreciation and amortization $ 81 $ 97 % (16) (16.5) %
General and administrative expense 11,102 11,929 (827) (6.9 %
Interest expense, net 6,145 5,762 383 6.6 %
Loss on debt extinguishment 5,535 — 5,635 100.0 %
Other income, net (3,645) (318) 3,327 NM®
Loss before taxes and discontinued operations $ (19,218) $ (17,470) s (1,748) 10.0 %

(@ Percent change is not meaningful

Corporate overhead loss before taxes and discontinued operations increased compared to the prior quarter primarily due to the $5.5 million loss
associated with the early extinguishment of our prior term credit agreement and a $0.4 million increase in interest expense due to increased borrowings
on the new Term Credit Agreement. These increases were partially offset by a $2.4 million increase in unrealized gains related to unit price changes of
our investment in CSI Compressco and a $0.8 million decrease in general and administrative expenses, including lower compensation costs and
professional services.
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Three months ended March 31, 2024 compared with three months ended March 31, 2023.

Consolidated Comparisons

Three Months Ended

March 31, Period to Period Change
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues $ 150,972 $ 146,209 $ 4,763 33 %
Gross profit 31,102 36,323 (5,221) (14.4) %
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 20.6 % 24.8 %
Exploration and pre-development costs — 720 (720) 100.0 %
General and administrative expense 22,298 23,191 (893) (3.9) %
General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue 14.8 % 15.9 %
Interest expense, net 5,952 5,092 860 16.9 %
Loss on debt extinguishment 5,535 — 5,535 100.0 %
Other income, net (3,978) (214) 3,764 NM®
Income before taxes and discontinued operations 1,295 7,534 (6,239) (82.8) %
Income before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage of
revenue 0.9 % 52%
Provision for income taxes 380 1,489 (1,109) (74.5) %
Income before discontinued operations 915 6,045 (5,130) (84.9) %

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes — (12) (12) NM®
Net income 915 6,033 (5,118) (84.8) %
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — 7 @) 100.0 %
Net income attributable to TETRA stockholders $ 915  $ 6,040 g (5,125) (84.9) %

@ Percent change is not meaningful

Consolidated revenues increased in the current year primarily due to higher activity compared to the prior year for our Completion Fluids &
Products Division, partially offset by lower revenues from our Water & Flowback Services Division. See Divisional Comparisons section below for a more
detailed discussion of the change in our revenues.

Consolidated gross profit decreased in the current year primarily due to the decrease in revenue and an increase in operating costs from our
Water & Flowback Services Division, partially offset by an increase in European and North American sales from our Completion Fluids & Products
Division. Profit margins for both divisions declined primarily due to the effect of changes in product mix.

Consolidated exploration and pre-development costs decreased $0.7 million due to the capitalization of certain pre-development costs related to
our leased acreage in Arkansas beginning in January 2024.

Consolidated general and administrative expenses decreased compared to the prior year, primarily due to a $0.7 million decrease in professional
services as well as a $0.3 million decrease in general expenses.

Consolidated interest expense, net, increased in the current year primarily due to increased borrowing on our Term Credit Agreement as well as
higher interest rates.

Consolidated loss on debt extinguishment increased $5.5 million primarily from non-cash unamortized finance costs expensed in connection with
the repayment of our prior Term Credit Agreement in January 2024.

Consolidated other income, net, increased in the current year compared to the prior year primarily due to a $4.2 million increase in unrealized

gains due to the change in the unit price of the CSI Compressco common units we owned and a $0.3 million increase in foreign exchange gains, partially
offset by a $1.0 million increase in unrealized losses on Standard Lithium shares.
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Consolidated provision for income taxes was $0.4 million during the current year, compared to $1.5 million during the prior year. Our
consolidated effective tax rate for the current year is 29.3%, compared to 19.8% during the prior year. The decrease in our tax provision compared to the
prior year was primarily due to the decrease in income. Our effective tax rate increase was primarily the result of a significant portion of income generated
in jurisdictions for which we were not able to utilize net operating losses for which we had established valuation allowances. We establish a valuation
allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Included
in our deferred tax assets are net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits that are available to offset future income tax liabilities in the United States
as well as in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Divisional Comparisons

Completion Fluids & Products Division

Three Months Ended

March 31, Period to Period Change
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues $ 77,282 $ 69,042 $ 8,240 11.9 %
Gross profit 26,431 25,010 1,421 5.7 %

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 342 % 36.2 %
Exploration and pre-development costs — 720 (720) 100.0 %
General and administrative expense 6,693 7,173 (480) (6.7)%

General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue 8.7% 10.4 %
Interest income, net (269) (395) (126) (31.9)%
Other (income) expense, net 215 (930) (1,145) NM®
Income before taxes and discontinued operations $ 19,792  $ 18,442 g 1,350 7.3%

Income before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage of
revenue 25.6 % 26.7 %

@ Percent change is not meaningful

Revenues for our Completion Fluids & Products Division increased compared to the prior year primarily due to higher European and North
America industrial chemical sales volumes, as well as favorable pricing and product mix.

Gross profit for our Completion Fluids & Products Division increased compared to the prior year due to an increase in sales volumes and higher
pricing, combined with favorable raw material costs. Profit margins declined due to the effect of changes in product mix. Our profitability in future periods
will continue to be affected by the mix of our products and services, market demand for our products and services, and drilling and completions activity.

Income before taxes and discontinued operations for our Completion Fluids & Products Division increased compared to the prior year driven by
higher gross profit, a $0.7 million decrease in costs associated with the exploratory brine project following the capitalization of costs beginning in January
2024, and a $0.5 million decrease in general and administrative costs due to lower professional services. These decreases were partially offset by a
$1.0 million increase in unrealized losses from our investment in Standard Lithium shares, which is included in other income, net.
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Water & Flowback Services Division

Revenues
Gross profit
Gross profit as a percentage of revenue

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue

Interest expense, net

Other (income) expense, net

Income before taxes and discontinued operations

Income before taxes and discontinued operations as a percentage of

revenue

@ Percent change is not meaningful

Three Months Ended

March 31, Period to Period Change
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

73,690 $ 77,167 $ (3,477) (4.5)%

4,752 11,422 (6,670) (58.4)%
6.4 % 14.8 %

4,503 4,959 (456) (9.2)%
6.1 % 6.4 %

76 27 49 181.5%

(548) 58 606 NM®

721 $ 6,378 $ (5,657) (88.7)%
1.0 % 8.3%

Revenues for our Water & Flowback Services Division decreased for both water management and production testing due to lower customer
drilling and completion activity. This was partially offset by higher revenues from our early production facilities in Latin America and offshore well test

operations.

Gross profit for our Water & Flowback Services Division decreased from the prior year primarily due to lower revenues resulting from the

decreased activity levels described above and increased operating costs in water management, particularly in North America onshore.

Income before taxes and discontinued operations for our Water & Flowback Services Division decreased in the current year primarily due to a
decline in the gross profit described above, partially offset by a $0.5 million decrease in general and administrative expense from lower compensation

and professional services.

Corporate Overhead

Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative expense
Interest expense, net

Loss on debt extinguishment

Other (income) expense, net

Loss before taxes and discontinued operations

Three Months Ended

March 31, Period to Period Change
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

81 $ 109 $ (28) (25.7)%
11,102 11,059 43 0.4 %
6,145 5,460 685 12.5 %
5,535 — 5,535 100.0 %
(3,645) 658 (4,303) 654.0 %
(19,218) $ (17,286) g (1,932) 11.2%

Corporate overhead loss before taxes and discontinued operations increased primarily due to a $5.5 million loss associated with the early
extinguishment of our prior term credit agreement in January 2024 and a $0.7 million increase in interest expense, net due to an increase in borrowing
and the interest rate on our Term Credit Agreement, partially offset by a $4.2 million increase in unrealized gains related to unit price changes of our

investment in CSI Compressco.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use U.S. GAAP financial measures such as revenues, gross profit, income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations, and net cash
provided by operating activities, as well as certain non-GAAP financial measures, including Adjusted EBITDA, as performance measures for our

business.
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Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations, excluding impairments,
exploration and pre-development costs, certain special, non-recurring or other charges (or credits), including loss on debt extinguishment, interest,
depreciation and amortization, income from collaborative arrangement and certain non-cash items such as equity-based compensation expense. The
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure is net income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations. Exploration and pre-development costs
represent expenditures incurred to evaluate potential future development of TETRA's lithium and bromine properties in Arkansas. Such costs include
exploratory drilling and associated engineering studies. Income from collaborative arrangement represents the portion of exploration and pre-
development costs that are reimbursable by our strategic partner. We began capitalizing certain exploration and pre-development costs in January 2024
and therefore these costs are only excluded to the extent they were expensed. Exploration and pre-development costs and the associated income from
collaborative arrangement were excluded from Adjusted EBITDA in prior periods because they did not relate to the Company’s current business
operations. Adjustments to long-term incentives represent adjustments to valuation of long-term cash incentive compensation awards that are related to
prior years. These costs are excluded from Adjusted EBITDA because they did not relate to the periods presented and are considered to be outside of
normal operations. Long-term incentives are earned over a three-year period and the costs are recorded over the three-year period they are earned. The
amounts accrued or incurred are based on a cumulative of the three-year period. Equity-based compensation expense represents compensation that has
been or will be paid in equity and is excluded from Adjusted EBITDA because it is a non-cash item.

Adjusted EBITDA is used by management as a supplemental financial measure to assess financial performance, without regard to charges or

credits that are considered by management to be outside of its normal operations and without regard to financing methods, capital structure or historical
cost basis, and to assess the Company'’s ability to incur and service debt and fund capital expenditures.
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The following tables reconcile net income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods indicated:

Revenue
Net income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations
Former CEO stock appreciation right expense
Transactions, restructuring, and other expenses
Loss on debt extinguishment
Interest (income) expense, net
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion

Equity-based compensation expense
Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA as % of revenue

Revenue
Net income (loss) before taxes and discontinued operations
Insurance recoveries
Impairments and other charges
Exploration, pre-development costs, and collaborative arrangements
Adjustment to long-term incentives
Former CEO stock appreciation right expense
Transaction, restructuring, and other expenses
Unusual foreign exchange loss
Interest (income) expense, net
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion

Equity-based compensation expense
Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA as % of revenue

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2024

Water &
Completion Flowback Corporate
Fluids & Products Services SG&A Corporate Other Total
(in thousands, except percentages)
$ 77,282 73,690 $ — $ — 8 150,972
19,792 721 (11,101) (8,117) 1,295
— — (186) — (186)
(159) — 24 — (135)
— — — 5,535 5,535
(269) 76 — 6,145 5,952
2,387 6,288 — 81 8,756
— — 1,623 — 1,623
$ 21,751 7,085 $ (9,640) $ 3644 $ 22,840
28.1 % 9.6 % 15.1%
Three Months Ended
December 31, 2023
Water &
Completion Flowback Corporate
Fluids & Products Services SG&A Corporate Other Total
(in thousands, except percentages)
$ 72,556 80,570 $ — 8 — 8 153,126
10,984 2,855 (11,929) (5,541) (3,631)
3 — — — 3
2,189 — — — 2,189
2,684 — — — 2,684
— — 281 — 281
— — (789) — (789)
— — 255 — 255
— 2,444 — — 2,444
a7 (38) — 5,762 5,677
2,508 6,019 — 96 8,623
— — 6,406 — 6,406
$ 18,321 11,280 $ (5,776) $ 317 $ 24,142
253 % 14.0 % 15.8%

Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to net income,
operating income, cash provided by operating activities, or any other measure of financial performance presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. This
measure may not be comparable to similarly titled financial metrics of other companies, as other companies may not calculate Adjusted EBITDA in the
same manner as we do. Management compensates for the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA as an analytical tool by reviewing the comparable U.S. GAAP
measures, understanding the differences between the measures, and incorporating this knowledge into management'’s decision-making processes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our capital structure allows us to meet our financial obligations on both a short-term and long-term basis. Our liquidity at the end
of the first quarter was $195.1 million. Liquidity is defined as unrestricted cash plus availability under the delayed draw from our Term Credit Agreement,
availability under the ABL Credit Agreement and Swedish Credit Facility. Information about the terms and covenants of our debt agreements can be

found in Note 5 - Long Term Debt and Other Borrowings.
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Our consolidated sources and uses of cash are as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Operating activities $ (13,816) $ 8,985
Investing activities $ (15,748) $ (11,197)
Financing activities $ 13,348 $ 5,136

Operating Activities

Consolidated cash flows provided by operating activities decreased compared to the first three months of 2023 primarily due to working capital
changes.

Investing Activities

Total cash capital expenditures during the first three months of 2024 were $15.8 million, which reflects increased expenditures to accommodate
industry-wide activity. Our Water & Flowback Services Division spent $8.0 million on capital expenditures, and to maintain, automate and upgrade its
water management and flowback equipment fleet. Water and Flowback Services Division capital expenditures also included expenditures related to
expansion of early production facilities in Latin America. Our Completion Fluids & Products Division spent $7.7 million on capital expenditures, primarily
for advancement of our Arkansas brine resource development and investments to support projected activity levels in the United States and Europe.

Investing activities during the first three months of 2023 also included $2.9 million of proceeds for insurance settlements from damage to our
Lake Charles facility in 2020.

Historically, a significant majority of our planned capital expenditures have been related to identified opportunities to grow and expand our
existing businesses. We are also focused on enhancing shareholder value by capitalizing on our key mineral assets, brine mineral extraction expertise,
and deep chemistry competency to expand our offerings into the low carbon energy markets. However, we continue to review all capital expenditure
plans carefully in an effort to conserve cash. We currently have no significant long-term capital expenditure commitments. If the forecasted demand for
our products and services increases or decreases, the amount of planned expenditures on growth and expansion may be adjusted.

Lithium and Bromine Resources

We have rights to the brine underlying our approximately 40,000 gross acres of brine leases in the Smackover Formation in Southwest Arkansas,
including rights to the bromine and lithium contained in the brine. Additional information on these inferred, indicated and measured resources is described
in Part I, “Item 2. Properties” in our 2023 Annual Report.

The extraction of lithium and bromine from these brine leases and the work needed to undertake these operations would likely require a
significant amount of time and capital. We completed an initial preliminary economic assessment in early 2023 for a bromine extraction plant. We expect
an initial economic assessment to follow in the first half of 2024 for a lithium extraction plant, subject to the progress of early engineering. We have
continued to advance the definitive feasibility study for the Arkansas bromine processing facility and negotiate a lithium joint venture with ExxonMobil for
the Brine Unit.

Financing Activities

Our financing activities for the first three months of 2024 include $184.5 million of borrowings under our new Term Credit Agreement, net of
discount, and $163.2 million of repayments primarily for our prior term credit agreement, as well as $0.3 million of capital lease payments associated with
equipment leased primarily for the early production facilities in Latin America. We may supplement our existing cash balances and cash flow from
operating activities with short-term borrowings, long-term borrowings, issuances of equity and debt securities, and other sources of capital. We are
aggressively managing our working capital and capital expenditure needs in order to maximize our liquidity in the current environment.
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For additional information on our credit agreements, see Note 5 - “Long-Term Debt and Other Borrowings” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Other Sources and Uses of Cash

In addition to our credit facilities, we fund our short-term liquidity requirements from cash generated by our operations and from short-term vendor
financing. In addition, as of March 31, 2024, the market value of our investments in CSI Compressco and Standard Lithium were $12.2 million and
$0.9 million, respectively, with no holding restrictions on our ability to monetize our interests. In addition, we are party to agreements in which Standard
Lithium has the right to explore for, and an option to acquire the right to produce and extract lithium in our Arkansas leases as well as additional potential
resources, in the Mojave region of California. Standard Lithium exercised its option with respect to our Arkansas leases on October 6, 2023. We also hold
an investment in a convertible note and common units issued by CarbonFree valued at $6.9 million as of March 31, 2024.

On May 5, 2022, we filed a universal shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 with the SEC. On May 17, 2022, the Registration Statement on
Form S-3 was declared effective by the SEC. Pursuant to this registration statement, we have the ability to sell debt or equity securities in one or more
public offerings up to an aggregate public offering price of $400 million. This shelf registration statement currently provides us additional flexibility with
regards to potential financing that we may undertake when market conditions permit or our financial condition may require.

Should additional capital be required, the ability to raise such capital through the issuance of additional debt or equity securities may currently be
limited. Instability or volatility in the capital markets at the times we need to access capital may affect the cost of capital and the ability to raise capital for
an indeterminable length of time. If it is necessary to issue additional equity to fund our capital needs, additional dilution of our common stockholders will
occur. We periodically evaluate engaging in strategic transactions and may consider divesting non-core assets where our evaluation suggests such
transactions are in the best interest of our business. In challenging economic environments, we may experience increased delays and failures by
customers to pay our invoices. If our customers delay paying or fail to pay us a significant amount of our outstanding receivables, it could have an
adverse effect on our liquidity. An increase in unpaid aged receivables would also negatively affect our borrowing availability under the ABL Credit
Agreement.

As of March 31, 2024, we had no “off balance sheet arrangements” that may have a current or future material effect on our consolidated financial
condition or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There have been no material changes or developments in the evaluation of the accounting estimates and
the underlying assumptions or methodologies pertaining to our Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates disclosed
in our 2023 Annual Report. In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we make assumptions, estimates, and judgments that affect the amounts
reported. These judgments and estimates may change as new events occur, as new information is acquired, and as changes in our operating
environments are encountered. Actual results are likely to differ from our current estimates, and those differences may be material.

Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation
There have been no material developments in our legal proceedings during the quarter ended March 31, 2024. For additional discussion of our

legal proceedings, please see our 2023 Annual Report. Also see Part I,
“Item 1. Legal Proceedings” for information related to a putative class action complaint that was filed on April 25, 2024.

Long-Term Debt

For information on our credit agreements, see Note 5 - “Long-Term Debt and Other Borrowings” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Leases

We have operating leases for some of our transportation equipment, office space, warehouse space, operating locations, and machinery and
equipment. We have finance leases for certain facility storage tanks and equipment rentals. Information about the terms of our lease agreements can be
found in our 2023 Annual Report.

Product and Asset Purchase Obligations

For information on product and asset purchase obligations, see Note 6 - “Commitments and Contingencies” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Cautionary Statement for Purposes of Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report are identifiable by

" ow now

the use of the following words, the negative of such words, and other similar words: “anticipates”, “assumes”,

“expects”,

"W "o

believes”, “budgets”, “could”, “estimates”,
forecasts”, “goal”, “intends”, “may”, “might”, “plans”, “predicts”, “projects”, “schedules”, “seeks”, “should”, “targets”, “will", and “would".
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These forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance and are based on
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but such forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not
limited to: economic and operating conditions that are outside of our control, including the trading price of our common stock, and the supply, demand,
and prices of oil and natural gas; the availability of adequate sources of capital to us; the effect of inflation on the cost of goods and services; the activity
levels of our customers; our operational performance; actions taken by our customers, suppliers, competitors and third-party operators; the availability of
raw materials and labor at reasonable prices; risks related to acquisitions and our growth strategy; restrictions under our debt agreements and the
consequences of any failure to comply with debt covenants; the effect and results of litigation, commercial disputes, regulatory matters, settlements,
audits, assessments, and contingencies; potential regulatory initiatives to restrict hydraulic fracturing activities on federal lands as well as other actions to
more stringently regulate certain aspects of oil and gas development such as air emissions and water discharges; risks related to our foreign operations;
risks related to our non-controlling equity investments; information and operational technology risks, including the risk of cyberattack; our health, safety
and environmental performance; the effects of consolidation on our customers and competitors; global or national health concerns, including the outbreak
of pandemics or epidemics such as the coronavirus (COVID-19); acts of terrorism, war or political or civil unrest in the United States or elsewhere,
including the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the conflict in the Israel-Gaza region and continued hostilities in the Middle East, maritime
piracy attacks, changes in laws and regulations, or the imposition of economic or trade sanctions affecting international commercial transactions; and
statements regarding our beliefs, expectations, plans, goals, future events and performance and other statements that are not purely historical. These
statements include statements concerning the inferred mineral resources of lithium and bromine, the potential extraction of lithium and bromine from the
leased acreage, the development of the assets including construction of lithium and bromine extraction plants, the economic viability thereof, the demand
for such resources, and the timing and cost of such activities; the ability to obtain an initial economic assessment and/or pre-feasibility or feasibility
studies regarding our lithium acreage; the ability to obtain pre-feasibility or feasibility studies regarding our bromine acreage; and the ability to obtain a
resources report that moves the remaining portion of our bromine and lithium inferred resources to a higher resource or reserve category. With respect to
our disclosures of measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources, including bromine and lithium carbonate equivalent concentrations, it is unclear
whether they will ever be economically developed. Investors are cautioned that mineral resources do not have demonstrated economic value and further
exploration may not result in the estimation of a mineral reserve. Further there are a number of uncertainties related to processing lithium, which is an
inherently difficult process, including, for example, the development of the technology to do so successfully and economically. Therefore, investors are
cautioned not to assume that all or any part of our resources can be economically or legally commercialized. In particular, investors are cautioned not to
assume that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource exists, that it can be economically or legally commercialized, or that it will ever be upgraded to
a higher category. With respect to the Company’s disclosures of the MOU with Saltwerx, it is uncertain about the ability of the parties to successfully
negotiate one or more definitive agreements, the future relationship between the parties, and the ability to successfully and economically produce lithium
and bromine from the Brine Unit.

Management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made. However, investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Such statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and the Company
undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise,
except as required by law. In addition, forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from our historical experience and our present expectations, forecasts or projections. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited
to, those described in Part Il, “ltem 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report and in our 2023 Annual Report, and those described from time to time
in our future reports filed with the SEC.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk

The interest on our borrowings is subject to market risk exposure related to changes in applicable interest rates. Borrowings under the Term
Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum of SOFR plus 5.75%. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee on the unutilized
commitments with respect to the delayed-draw term loan at the rate of 1.5% per annum. Borrowings under our ABL Credit Agreement bear interest at an
agreed-upon percentage rate spread above SOFR. Borrowings under our Swedish Credit Facility, if any, bear interest at fixed rates of 2.95%. The
following table sets forth as of March 31, 2024, the principal amount due under our long-term debt obligations and their respective weighted average
interest rates. As of March 31, 2024, we had no balances outstanding under our ABL Credit Agreement or Swedish Credit Facility. We are not a party to
an interest rate swap contract or other derivative instrument designed to hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuation risk.

Interest
Scheduled Maturity Rate March 31, 2024
(in thousands)
Term Credit Agreement January 12, 2030 11.17% $ 190,000
TETRA total debt, including current portion $ 190,000

Exchange Rate Risk

We have currency exchange rate risk exposure related to revenues, expenses, operating receivables, and payables denominated in foreign
currencies. We may enter into short-term foreign-currency forward derivative contracts as part of a program designed to mitigate the currency exchange
rate risk exposure on selected transactions of certain foreign subsidiaries. Although contracts pursuant to this program will serve as an economic hedge
of the cash flow of our currency exchange risk exposure, they are not expected to be formally designated as hedge contracts or qualify for hedge
accounting treatment. Accordingly, any change in the fair value of these derivative instruments during a period will be included in the determination of
earnings for that period. As of March 31, 2024, we did not have any foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2024, the end of the period covered by this quarterly report.

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2024, that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART Il
OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

On April 25, 2024, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery naming as
defendants all current members of the Board, the Company and the Rights Agent. The litigation is captioned Webb, et al. v. Murphy, et al., C.A. No.
2024-0445 (Del. Ch.). The plaintiff alleges that the Board breached their fiduciary duties by adopting and maintaining the Company’s Tax Benefits
Preservation Plan (the “Tax Plan”). The plaintiff seeks, among other relief, to enjoin the Tax Plan. We believe that the plaintiff's claims lack merit.

For other information regarding litigation, see “Iltem 1. Legal Proceedings” in our 2023 Annual Report and
Note 6 - “Commitments and Contingencies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

As of the date of this filing, TETRA and its operations continue to be subject to the risk factors previously disclosed in the “Risk Factors” sections
contained in our 2023 Annual Report.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
Item 5. Other Information.
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, no director or officer of TETRA adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or

“non-Rulel0b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibits:

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1%+#
10.2%+
10.3*+#
10.4%+
31.1*

31.2*

32.1%*
32.2%*
101.SCH++
101.CAL++
101.DEF++
101.LAB++
101.PRE++
104*

*  Filed with this report.

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on March 1, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-13455).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TETRA Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-13455)).

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of TETRA Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K
filed on May 25, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-13455)).

Tax Benefits Preservation Plan dated as of February 28, 2023, between TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company
N.A. as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2023 (SEC File No. 001-

13455).

Credit Agreement dated as of January 12, 2024 among TETRA Technologies, Inc., Silver Point Finance, LLC, as administrative agent, and
the lenders party thereto (incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Form 8-K filed on January 18, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-
13455)).

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of January 12, 2024 by and among TETRA Technologies, Inc., TETRA Technologies U.K.

Limited, the other loan parties party thereto, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on January 18, 2024 (SEC File No. 001-13455)).

Memorandum of Understanding Amendment No. 1 between TETRA Techmlogies, Inc. and Saltwerx LLC dated Novenber 29, 2023
Memorandum of Understanding Amendment No. 2 between TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Saltwerx LLC datedJanuary 16, 2024

Memorandum of Understanding Amendment No. 3 between TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Saltwerx LLC datedMarch 20, 2024
Memorandum of Understanding Amendment No. 4 between TETRA Technologies, Inc. and Saltwerx LLC datedApril 15, 2024

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL documents

**  Furnished with this report.

+ Portions have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10)(iv), because the omitted information is both not material and is the type that the Company treats as

private or confidential.

++  Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations

for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023; (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2024

and 2023; (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity for the three-month periods ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023; (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023; and (vi) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

# Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any such omitted schedule to the

SEC upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TETRA Technologies, Inc.

Date: April 30, 2024 By: /s/Brady M. Murphy

Brady M. Murphy
President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Date: April 30, 2024 By: /s/Elijio V. Serrano

Elijio V. Serrano
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Date: April 30, 2024 By: /s/Richard D. O’'Brien

Richard D. O'Brien
Vice President — Finance and Global Controller

Principal Accounting Officer
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SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE
BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND ARE OF A TYPE THAT TETRA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. TREATS AS
CONFIDENTIAL. THESE REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT AT THE
APPROPRIATE PLACE WITH THREE ASTERISKS [***].

PROJECT [***]

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
Amendment No. 1

This Amendment No. 1 (this ‘MOU Amendment No. 1") to the MEMORANDUM OF
UNDERSTANDING, dated June 19, 2023, by and between TETRA Technologies Inc. (“* TETRA”") and
Saltwerx LLC (“Saltwerx”), is made effective as of November 28, 2023 the (“MOU").

Recitals

WHEREAS, TETRA and Saltwerx wish to amend the MOU on the terms and conditions described
herein;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained
herein, TETRA and Saltwerx hereby agree as follows:

1. Section 1.5 of the MOU is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:

“1.5. TETRA's out-of-pocket costs incurred to-date and to be incurred until Final Investment Decision
(“FID") and out-of-pocket front-end engineering and design (FEED) costs to assess the Amended
Brine Unit acreage (including out-of-pocket costs associated with test wells, geological modeling,
reservoir analysis, related consulting costs) (collectively, the “pre-FID costs”) will be borne by the
working interest owners in accordance with the respective ownership percentages in the Amended
Brine Unit; except that based on TETRA's current estimate of pre-FID costs of approximately $[***]
million on a 100% basis Saltwerx will pay to TETRA [***]% of these pre-FID costs up to $[***] million
upon TETRA providing evidence of the pre-FID costs. Upon such payment, TETRA will provide
Saltwerx and Saltwerx will provide TETRA with all data, information, and/or analyses to assess the
acreage within the Amended Brine Unit (“pre-FID data”), including those listed on Exhibit C hereto.
Except as set forth in Sections 1.5, 1.6, and 1.7 as applicable, Saltwerx will not be liable or
responsible to reimburse TETRA for any other cost or expense incurred by TETRA prior to FID.
Saltwerx will have no restrictions with regards to the confidentiality or use of the pre-FID data or
data, information, and/or analyses generated by TETRA in its role as Operator of the Amended
Brine Unit.”

2. All Other Terms and Conditions. Except as expressly set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions
of the MOU shall remain in full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the
meanings assigned thereto in the MOU. This MOU Amendment No. 1 may be executed in any number
of counterparts, each of which counterparts, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute but one and the same instrument.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TETRA and Saltwerx have caused this MOU Amendment No. 1 to be
executed as of the date first written above.

TETRA TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/ Elijio V. Serrano
Name: Elijio V. Serrano
Title: Chief Financial Officer

SALTWERX LLC

By: [s/ [***]
Name: [***]
Title: [***]



SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH NOT
MATERIAL AND ARE OF A TYPE THAT TETRA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. TREATS AS CONFIDENTIAL. THESE
REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT AT THE APPROPRIATE PLACE WITH THREE
ASTERISKS [***].

PROJECT [***]
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Amendment No. 2

This Amendment No. 2 (this ‘MOU Amendment No. 2") to the MEMORANDUM OF
UNDERSTANDING, dated June 19, 2023, by and between TETRA Technologies Inc. (* TETRA”) and Saltwerx
LLC (“Saltwerx”), is made effective as of January 16, 2024 the (“MOU").

Recitals

WHEREAS, TETRA and Saltwerx wish to amend the MOU on the terms and conditions described
herein;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained
herein, TETRA and Saltwerx hereby agree as follows:

1. Section 1.4 of the MOU is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:

“1.4. For a period of twelve (12) months after the Execution Date TETRA and Saltwerx shall each, and
shall cause each of their respective affiliates to, deal exclusively with the other party for the purposes of
development of the Amended Brine Unit or any other brine unit that includes any of TETRA's or
Saltwerx’s current brine leases that are included in the Amended Brine Unit, and will not, directly or
indirectly, solicit, initiate, entertain or accept any offers or proposal from, negotiate or enter into any
discussion or agreements with, or provide any information to, any person or entity other than the other
party regarding the development of the Amended Brine Unit or any of the brine interests or leases that
are included in the Amended Brine Unit; except that the foregoing shall not restrict TETRA from
soliciting, initiating, entertaining or accepting any offers or proposals from, negotiating or entering into
any discussion or agreements, or providing information to other parties related to TETRA’s financing
requirements for any aspect of the Amended Brine Unit; provided that in no event shall TETRA enter
into any agreement or arrangement that would directly or indirectly transfer or otherwise encumber
twenty- five percent (25%) or more of the lithium extraction rights in the Amended Brine Unit or
otherwise restrict Saltwerx’s ability to exercise its rights under paragraphs 1.7 and 1.9 hereof.”

2.  All Other Terms and Conditions. Except as expressly set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions of
the MOU shall remain in full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned thereto in the MOU. This MOU Amendment No. 2 may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which counterparts, when executed and




delivered, shall be deemed to be an original and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute but
one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TETRA and Saltwerx have caused this MOU Amendment No. 2 to be executed
as of the date first written above.

TETRA TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/ Elijio V. Serrano
Name: Elijio V. Serrano
Title: Chief Financial Officer

SALTWERX LLC

By: /s/ [***]
Name: [***]
Title: [***]



SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH
NOT MATERIAL AND ARE OF A TYPE THAT TETRA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. TREATS AS CONFIDENTIAL.
THESE REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT AT THE APPROPRIATE PLACE
WITH THREE ASTERISKS [***].

PROJECT [***]

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
Amendment No. 3

This Amendment No. 3 (this ‘MOU Amendment No. 3") to the MEMORANDUM OF
UNDERSTANDING, dated June 19, 2023, by and between TETRA Technologies Inc. (“TETRA”) and Saltwerx
LLC (“saltwerx”), is made effective as of March 20, 2024 the (“MOU").

Recitals

WHEREAS, TETRA and Saltwerx wish to amend the MOU on the terms and conditions described
herein;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained
herein, TETRA and Saltwerx hereby agree as follows:

1. Section 1.5 of the MOU is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:

“1.5. TETRA's out-of-pocket costs incurred to-date and to be incurred until Final Investment Decision (FID")
and out-of-pocket front-end engineering and design (FEED) costs to assess the Amended Brine Unit
acreage (including out-of-pocket costs associated with test wells, geological modeling, reservoir analysis,
related consulting costs) (collectively, the “pre-FID costs”) will be borne by the working interest owners in
accordance with the respective ownership percentages in the Amended Brine Unit; except that based on
TETRA's current estimate of pre-FID costs of approximately $[***] million on a 100% basis Saltwerx will
pay to TETRA [***]% of these pre-FID costs up to $[***] million upon TETRA providing evidence of the
pre-FID costs. Upon such payment, TETRA will provide Saltwerx and Saltwerx will provide TETRA with all
data, information, and/or analyses to assess the acreage within the Amended Brine Unit (“pre-FID data”),
including those listed on Exhibit C hereto. Except as set forth in Sections 1.5, 1.6, and 1.7 as applicable,
Saltwerx will not be liable or responsible to reimburse TETRA for any other cost or expense incurred by
TETRA prior to FID. Saltwerx will have no restrictions with regards to the confidentiality or use of the pre-
FID data or data, information, and/or analyses generated by TETRA in its role as Operator of the
Amended Brine Unit.”

2.  All Other Terms and Conditions. Except as expressly set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions of
the MOU shall remain in full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned thereto in the MOU. This MOU Amendment No. 3 may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which counterparts, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original and all of which
counterparts, taken together, shall constitute but one and the same instrument.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TETRA and Saltwerx have caused this MOU Amendment No. 3 to be
executed as of the date first written above.

TETRA TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/ Elijio V. Serrano
Name: Elijio V. Serrano
Title: Chief Financial Officer

SALTWERX LLC

By: /s/ [***]
Name: [***]
Title: [***]



SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH NOT
MATERIAL AND ARE OF A TYPE THAT TETRA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. TREATS AS CONFIDENTIAL. THESE

REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT AT THE APPROPRIATE PLACE WITH THREE
ASTERISKS [**].

PROJECT [**]

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
Amendment No. 4

This Amendment No. 4 (“MOU Amendment No. 4’) to the MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MOU"), dated
June 19, 2023, by and between TETRA Technologies Inc. (“ TETRA") and Saltwerx LLC (“Saltwerx”), is made effective as
of April 15, 2024 (“Amendment No. 4 Effective Date”).

Recitals
WHEREAS, TETRA and Saltwerx wish to amend the MOU on the terms and conditions described herein;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, TETRA
and Saltwerx hereby amend the MOU as follows:

1. Amendments. The following is inserted as new Section 1.13: “1.13 Indemnity and

Limitations of Liability.
(&) Waiver and Indemnity.

() EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT OF GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, NEITHER PARTY
SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY DAMAGE, LOSS, COST, OR LIABILITY

RESULTING FROM PERFORMING (OR FAILING TO PERFORM) PROJECT MANAGEMENT OR FROM THE
PROVISION TO, USE OF OR RELIANCE UPON INFORMATION TO OR FROM THE OTHER PARTY
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS MOU, AND THE PARTIES
RELEASE EACH OTHER FOR ANY AND ALL DAMAGES, LOSSES, COSTS, AND LIABILITIES ARISING OUT
OF, INCIDENT TO, OR RESULTING FROM SUCH PERFORMANCE OR FAILURE TO PERFORM, EVEN
THOUGH CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY A PRE-EXISTING DEFECT, OR THE NEGLIGENCE
WHETHER SOLE, JOINT, OR CONCURRENT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR OTHER LEGAL FAULT OF THE

OTHER PARTY. FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS SECTION, “PROJECT MANAGEMENT” MEANS PROJECT
OVERSIGHT, GUIDANCE, AND DECISION RIGHTS, ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR
OVERSIGHT, TECHNICAL SUPPORT, DESIGN AND REVIEW ACTIVITIES FOR ENGINEERING, WELLS,

AND SUBSURFACE WITH RESPECT TO UPSTREAM, BRINE PROCESSING, BROMINE, LITHIUM, AND
COMMON FACILITIES. NOTWITHSTANDING



2.

THE FOREGOING, THIS SECTION DOES NOT SUPERCEDE OR MODIFY ANY OTHER PROVISION OF
THIS MOU OR THE BRINE UNIT OPERATING AGREEMENT, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION SECTION
V.A THEREOF,

WITH RESPECT TO THE LIABILITY OF OPERATOR FOR CARRYING OUT ITS DUTIES AND ACTIVITIES
THEREUNDER.

(IEXCEPT TO THE EXTENT OF ANY GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF THE
INDEMNITEE OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, EACH PARTY (IN SUCH CAPACITY THE “INDEMNITOR”)
SHALL RELEASE, PROTECT, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE OTHER PARTY AND ITS
AFFILIATES (EACH, IN SUCH CAPACITY AN “INDEMNITEE”) FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL COSTS,

EXPENSES (INCLUDING LEGAL COSTS AND EXPENSES), LIABILITIES, DAMAGES AND/OR LOSSES,
CLAIMS, SUITS AND/OR PROCEEDINGS OF ANY KIND WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CAUSES THEREOF,
INCLUDING WHEN BASED ON NEGLIGENCE OR STRICT LIABILITY OF THE INDEMNITEE AND ITS
AFFILIATES, IN REGARD TO:

(A) THE DEATH, ILLNESS OF OR INJURY TO ANY PERSONNEL OF THE INDEMNITOR AND ITS
AFFILIATES; AND

(B) DAMAGE TO OR LOSS OF THE PROPERTY OF THE INDEMNITOR AND ITS AFFILIATES,
WHETHER OWNED, HIRED OR LEASED, INCLUDING LOSS OF USE THEREOF;

ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS MOU.

(b) Consequential Damages. IN NO EVENT WHATSOEVER SHALL ANY PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES BE
LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES, SO FAR AS PERMISSIBLE BY LAW, FOR SPECIAL,
INDIRECT, PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS MOU OR ANY WORK PERFORMED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR FOR ANY LOSS OF
PROFITS OR REVENUE, LOSS OF PRODUCTION OR PRODUCTION OPPORTUNITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL
DAMAGES, LOSS OF GOODWILL, LOSS OF CAPITAL COSTS, (1) REGARDLESS OF WHETHER OR NOT
THE DAMAGES WERE FORESEEABLE, (2) REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OR CAUSE OF ACTION UPON
WHICH THE DAMAGES MIGHT BE BASED, AND (3) NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF THE ESSENTIAL
PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN; EXCEPT WHERE SUCH SPECIAL, INDIRECT,
PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISE FROM ANY CLAIMS (A) RESULTING FROM
GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT ATTRIBUTABLE TO A PARTY OR ITS AFFILIATES OR (B)
ARISING FROM LIABILITY TO A THIRD PARTY.

All Other Terms and Conditions. Except as expressly set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions of the MOU and

Brine Unit Operating Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the
meanings assigned thereto in the MOU.



Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in the MOU shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Brine
Unit Operating Agreement.

3. Execution. This MOU Amendment No. 4 may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
counterparts, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original and all of which counterparts, taken

together, shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

<Signature Page Follows>



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TETRA and Saltwerx have caused this MOU Amendment No. 4 to be executed as of
Amendment No. 4 Effective Date written above.

TETRA TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/Elijio V. Serrano Name: Elijio V. Serrano Title: Chief Financial
Officer

By: [s/Alicia _P. Boston Name: Alicia P. Boston Title: General
Counsel

SALTWERX LLC
By: [s/ [***] Name: [**¥]

Title: [***




Exhibit 31.1
Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Brady M. Murphy, certify that:

1.

| have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024, of TETRA Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

4.

5.

Date:

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

©)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most recent

fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

April 30, 2024 /s/Brady M. Murphy
Brady M. Murphy

President and

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Elijio V. Serrano, certify that:

1.

4.

5.

Date:

| have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024, of TETRA Technologies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

c)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

April 30, 2024 /s/Elijio V. Serrano

Elijio V. Serrano

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of TETRA Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2024 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brady M. Murphy, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 30, 2024 Is/Brady M. Murphy

Brady M. Murphy
President and Chief Executive Officer
TETRA Technologies, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of TETRA Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2024 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Elijio V. Serrano, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: April 30, 2024 [s/Elijio V. Serrano

Elijio V. Serrano
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
TETRA Technologies, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



